



IMAGINING HIV IN 2030 DISCUSSION PAPER





### ABOUT ACON

ACON is New South Wales' leading health promotion organisation specialising in HIV prevention, HIV support and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer (LGBTQ) health.

Established in 1985, our mission is to enhance the health and wellbeing of our communities by ending HIV transmission among gay and homosexually active men, and promoting the lifelong health of LGBTQ people and people with HIV.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ACON wishes to thank all staff, community members and partner organisations who have generously contributed their time and expertise to inform, shape and review this paper. A special thank you to Dr Benjamin Bavinton for sharing his expertise and guidance, and to the Positive Life NSW team - Bella Bushby, David Crawford and Craig Cooper - for their inputs and thorough review.

We acknowledge and pay respects to the traditional custodians of all the lands on which we work.

#### ACON

PO Box 350 Darlinghurst NSW 1300 Australia P: 02 9206 2000 F: 02 9206 2134 E: acon@acon.org.au W: www.acon.org.au

**ISBN** 978-1-86356-009-2

#### **SUGGESTED CITATION**

ACON (2019). Imagining HIV in 2030. Sydney: ACON.

#### ACRONYMS

| ART    | Antiretroviral therapy                                |
|--------|---|
| ARV    | Antiretroviral  |
| BBV    | Blood-borne virus                                     |
| DBS    | Dried blood spot                                      |
| FDA    | (United States) Food and Drug<br>Administration       |
| GIPA   | Greater involvement of people<br>living with HIV/AIDS |
| HAND   | HIV-associated neurocognitive<br>disorder             |
| HIV    | Human immunodeficiency virus                          |
| HPV    | Human papilloma virus                                 |
| lgbtq  | Lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans<br>and queer            |
| LHD    | Local health district                                 |
| MIPA   | Meaningful involvement of<br>people living with HIV   |
| MSM    | Men who have sex with men                             |
| NCI    | Neurocognitive impairment                             |
| NSP    | Needle and syringe program                            |
| NSW    | New South Wales                                       |
| PBS    | Pharmaceutical Benefits<br>Scheme                     |
| PEP    | Post-exposure prophylaxis                             |
| PLHIV  | People living with HIV                                |
| PrEP   | Pre-exposure prophylaxis                              |
| PWID   | People who inject drugs                               |
| SIV    | Simian immunodeficiency virus                         |
| ТВ     | Tuberculosis  |
| TasP   | Treatment as prevention                               |
| TGA    | Therapeutic Goods<br>Administration                   |
| UNAIDS | Joint United Nations<br>Programme on HIV/AIDS         |
|        |   |

### CONTENTS

| Introduction  | 4  |
|---|----|
| 1. Context  | 5  |
| Historical context  | 6  |
| Political context   | 7  |
| Community context   | 7  |
| Technological context   | 8  |
| National, regional and global context                             | 8  |
| 2. Living with HIV in 2030  | 9  |
| 1. HIV treatment  | 10 |
| Treating earlier  | 10 |
| New treatments on the horizon                                     | 10 |
| Access to treatment   | 12 |
| 2. Evolving care needs  | 13 |
| Health risk factors   | 13 |
| Ageing and disability   | 13 |
| 3. Addressing social determinants                                 | 14 |
| Stigma and discrimination   | 14 |
| Isolation   |    |
| Social protection   | 15 |
| 4. Future scenarios for 2030 - LIVING WITH HIV                    | 16 |
| Scenario 1: healthy, connected and thriving                       |    |
| Scenario 2: status quo  |    |
| Scenario 3: inequalities  |    |
| 3. Ending HIV transmissions                                       |    |
| 1. Are we on track to end HIV transmissions?                      | 19 |
| 2. What biomedical and technological advances are on the horizon? | 21 |
| Testing   | 21 |
| Prevention  | 22 |
| 3. Ending HIV transmissions for all                               | 25 |
| 4. Future scenarios for 2030 - HIV TRANSMISSIONS                  | 28 |
| Scenario 1: the end of HIV transmissions for all                  |    |
| Scenario 2: status quo  |    |
| Scenario 3: going backwards                                       |    |
| References  |    |

### INTRODUCTION

In 2012/13, the New South Wales Government developed one of the most ambitious HIV strategies in the world.

The Strategy visioned a virtual end of new HIV transmissions, and backed in this bold public health goal through enlivening partnership, investing in technologies and staying the course.

In 2018, NSW recorded the lowest rate of new HIV notifications since 1985. This important milestone invites us to celebrate the successes of Australia's world-leading HIV responses, reflect on how far we have come and acknowledge the contributions of so many in our communities who have fought so hard to achieve these results.

From a time in the 1980's and early 1990's, when little was known about a new disease that would take the lives of thousands, to the current era of highly effective treatment and prevention methods, our communities have been at the forefront of HIV responses, caring for each other and shaping public policies.

Because of that inspired collective audacity, we are now able to cast our eyes to 2030.

This paper is an invitation to be part of a conversation about the kind of future we want for our communities, and how to make it happen.

There are numerous considerations and questions that are helpful in guiding our collective reflection, two of which are pressing. Firstly, how do we accompany our communities to thrive into old age?

Advances in treatment and lower notification rates mean that the HIV positive population is getting older. How do we make sure the best treatment, care and support are provided at home, in the community and in aged care settings? Section two of this paper addresses these questions, imagines three possible scenarios and advocates for the meaningful involvement of people living with HIV/AIDS (MIPA) in HIV responses.

Another critically important consideration is how we will make sure that no one gets left behind.

It is clear from HIV notification data that not everyone in our communities is benefiting from prevention and treatment advances to the same extent.

The majority of new HIV notifications among gay and bisexual men are now from people who were not born in Australia. While there is no doubt that more technological and biomedical advances lie ahead, we need to think of ways that these can be accessed by all, without discrimination or unnecessary barriers. Section three unpacks these recent trends and imagines three possible scenarios.

### 1. CONTEXT



There is light in the gloom of this epidemic. We will ultimately defeat HIV, but in doing so we will have achieved even more. We will have wrought fundamental changes in health care, in reducing discrimination and prejudice, and in enhancing social justice. The changes we make in the cause of defeating HIV will make this country a better place for all Australians.

Bill Whittaker (1988) ACON CEO 1986 - 1990

### 1. CONTEXT

Before casting our eyes to 2030, this section provides an overview of the context in which HIV responses are currently situated.

### **HISTORICAL CONTEXT**

At the beginning of the epidemic in the early to mid 1980's, little was known about a new disease often referred to as 'the Gay Plague' in the media and diagnosed by doctors as the 'Gay-related immune deficiency' (GRID).

With no understanding of how the virus was transmitted, no treatment and the criminalisation of populations who were most at risk - gay men, injecting drug users and sex workers - HIV spread rapidly.

The first recorded case of AIDS in Sydney was recorded in October 1982, and the epidemic reached a peak of 1,636 new HIV notifications in NSW in 1987.

At the time, the public discourse around HIV/AIDS was characterised by fear - fear of death for those

affected and also a public health fear that this virus would spread across the population. In this context, fear led to some rapid responses.

The HIV/AIDS epidemic was quickly met by strong and multi-faceted responses, including care and support for those who were dying and their loved ones and relatives, community education, advocacy and activism. In *Through Our Eyes*, NAPWHA presents the rich and complex history of HIV responses through the voices of PLHIV who have been involved in the making of Australia's effective HIV response.<sup>2</sup>

Together with significant advances in treatment that dramatically improved health outcomes for PLHIV, law reforms and investments in targeted HIV responses led to significant reductions in HIV transmissions in the 1990's (see figure 1).

#### Figure 1



#### Number of new HIV notifications in NSW

Source: Adapted from NSW Government, Epidemiology of HIV in NSW residents newly diagnosed with HIV infection up to 31 December 2013 and NSW Government, NSW HIV Strategy 2016 – 2020 Quarter 4 & Annual 2018 Data Report.

### **POLITICAL CONTEXT**

The early days of HIV/AIDS demanded a swift, evidence-based, bold response. Effective, pragmatic and commendable actions were taken across the political divide to protect lives.

These evidence-based population health approaches continue to provide the foundation of the contemporary response to HIV in Australia.

This long-standing, bipartisan approach to delivering evidence-based, adequately funded HIV responses is reflected in the Commonwealth<sup>3</sup> and NSW Government's HIV strategies.<sup>4</sup> The core pillars of the HIV response include:

- **PARTNERSHIP** between communities, governments, the clinical/health and research sectors. This includes ongoing relationships between organisations representing people living with or at risk of HIV who are the centre of HIV responses, and the NSW and Commonwealth Governments.
- ACCESS TO TREATMENT & CARE. Access to more effective, affordable medication and primary as well as HIV-specific care underpinned by Medicare and the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS), is central to both HIV prevention and care.

Investments in the development of new technologies (testing, treatment, biomedical prevention), as well as the surveillance system, are also key.

- TESTING OFTEN is critically important to detect new HIV cases rapidly, link newly diagnosed people to treatment and care, and prevent transmission clusters.
- **COMBINATION PREVENTION** is the recognition that no single HIV prevention approach alone can stop the epidemic. Meeting ambitious HIV transmission reduction targets requires a mix of evidence-based HIV prevention interventions, including condom provision, biomedical prevention (treatment as prevention, PrEP, PEP), and risk reduction and harm minimisation for people who inject drugs (e.g. needle and syringe programme).
- ACCESS TO STERILE INJECTING EQUIPMENT to prevent blood-borne virus transmissions and injectingrelated harm.
- DECRIMINALISED SEX WORK, which is essential to ensuring that sex workers can safely access testing and health care services.

ACON acknowledges that much has been written about the historical and political context of HIV/AIDS in Australia. As the focus of this document is forwardlooking, this section is necessarily brief and summarily natured.

### **COMMUNITY CONTEXT**

Our response to HIV started with the community, and it continues to rely on communities engagement, mobilisation, health behaviours and essentially a belief that we can "beat" HIV.

The socio-demographic profile of the HIV positive population is changing. There were 10,110 PLHIV in NSW in 2016.<sup>5</sup> Mirroring trends in the NSW population, the HIV positive population is ageing (see section 2.2) and increasingly diverse.

Gay and homosexually active men remain the most at-risk population. The reported transmission routes for the 278 people who were newly diagnosed with HIV in NSW in 2018 were: sex between men (71.2%), sex between men and injecting drugs (6.5%), heterosexual sex (18.7%), injecting drugs (1.8%) and another or unknown transmission route (1.8%).

Despite a lack of data on the holistic health of gay and homosexually active men, we know that the ways in which gay men connect with each other, socially and sexually, as well as a range of behavioural factors relevant to HIV prevention and support, are evolving.

The Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey<sup>6</sup> found that the proportion of men reporting condomless anal sex with casual partners is increasing, with PrEP becoming the most commonly used HIV prevention strategy by men who report condomless anal sex. Safe sex cultures have changed but are continuing.

A range of impediments, however, restrict overseas-born gay and homosexually active men's access to prevention strategies. While the number of new diagnoses among Australian-born gay and homosexually active men in 2018 was 33% less than the average of the previous five years, the number of new diagnoses among overseasborn gay and homosexually active men was just 3% less than the corresponding period.<sup>1</sup>

Much remains to be done for the meaningful inclusion and visibility of trans and gender diverse communities in HIV responses, including future policy responses.<sup>7</sup> In 2018, three transgender people were reported to have been newly diagnosed with HIV in NSW.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people face compounded disadvantage, structural barriers and discrimination in accessing health services. In 2018, eleven Aboriginal people were reported to have been newly diagnosed with HIV in NSW.

Finally, it is important to stress that the identities, paths and experiences of people in our communities are intersectional and shaped by a multitude of factors, including their socio-economic background and cultural identities.

### **TECHNOLOGICAL CONTEXT**

The ability to collect, store and share more patient data offers both opportunities and challenges for HIV responses. The availability of more detailed patient data may assist in establishing individual health diagnostics, managing polypharmacy, creating continuity of care and tailoring prevention and healthcare to meet the needs of individual patients.

A well-balanced approach is required to ensure that individuals benefit from and maintain their rights over their own data, including the right to confidentiality.

Confidentiality is critical, as HIV is still one of the most stigmatised diagnoses a person can receive.

Controversies surrounding the introduction of My Health Record, an individualised medical record automatically created for all Australians, have highlighted difficulties in making sure that these records remain consistent with the primary purpose of improving health outcomes for patients.

Health promotion is constantly evolving to adapt to changes in social media and smart phone usage, which has dramatically changed the way our communities engage with each other and with their own health.

Digital transformations are also rapidly changing the ways in which members of our communities connect. In the 2018 Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey, 51% of respondents said they had found their male sex partners through mobile apps.<sup>6</sup> The online space is fast-changing and increasingly able to cater for the specific interests within the gay community. This allows for greater targeting of key populations, but presents challenges as advertising costs have risen in an increasingly monetised social media landscape.

While technologies have evolved, it is important to maintain investment in community programs that allow for face-to-face peer connection and support to occur. This is beneficial for people who do not engage online, as well as for the digitally connected. Peer-based face to face interactions are invaluable in improving health literacy, nurturing wellbeing, building resilience and improving health outcomes.

### NATIONAL, REGIONAL AND GLOBAL CONTEXT

Targeting key populations in urban areas while also servicing regional and rural NSW has been a challenge for HIV responses.

It is estimated that 65% of the NSW population lives in Greater Sydney.<sup>8</sup> The city is home to a large gay population<sup>9</sup> and the majority of PLHIV also reside in Sydney – about three-quarters of the ART dispensed in NSW was to patients residing in the following five local health districts (LHD): South Eastern Sydney, Sydney, South Western Sydney, Northern Sydney and Western Sydney.<sup>10</sup>

National HIV responses are also crucial to ending HIV in oNSW. Nationally, there were 963 new HIV diagnoses in 2017, the lowest number of diagnoses since 2010, and HIV prevalence (the proportion of all people in Australia who are living with HIV) is low compared to other high-income countries in the Asia-Pacific.<sup>11</sup>

In a globalised world where populations are more mobile, the international context also has implications for NSW.

It is estimated that the majority of new HIV acquisitions among overseas-born people in NSW occur in Australia, not in their home country. This highlights the importance of HIV education for people who are unaware of HIV risks in Australia, and whose perceptions of HIV may be grounded in experiences from their home countries where HIV may not be talked about, stigmatised and/or criminalised.

Australians traveling to countries with a high HIV prevalence may also be unaware of their exposure to risks overseas.

2. LIVING WITH HIV IN 2030



After more than 35 years of the HIV epidemic in NSW, the centrality of people with HIV and their meaningful involvement in driving the response remain as important as ever. The leadership and contribution of people living with HIV in the Australian response is public health at its best.

How we move forward to address stigma, discrimination, social isolation, ageing, and build the strength and resilience of HIV positive people with their continued involvement, will not only shape our future success, but will continue to set a high benchmark for the provision of good healthcare more broadly.

## Steven Berveling

ACON Board Member, HIV+ since 1996

### 2. LIVING WITH HIV IN 2030

Experiences of living with HIV are shaped by a multitude of individual, social and structural factors. This section explores how a greater range of treatment options, changes to address the needs of an ageing population and a range of other social determinants will impact the lives of PLHIV in the future.

### **HIV TREATMENT**

Antiretroviral medications have dramatically changed since combination therapy first became available in the mid 1990's. Antiretroviral therapy (ART or ARVs) is now more effective at controlling the replication of the virus in the body, less likely to cause side-effects and easier to take.

With foreseeable biomedical advances, the future of HIV will be shaped by our collective ability to ensure everyone has access to the treatment options that best suit their needs.

### **TREATING EARLIER**

In NSW, the time from diagnosis to treatment initiation is now shorter and retention in care is high. The proportion of people diagnosed with HIV in January to June 2018 who commenced treatment within six weeks of diagnosis was 83%. The median number of days to ART uptake among those diagnosed during that period was 21 days, a significant decline from the median of 45 days in 2013.<sup>1</sup>

There is evidence to support accelerated ART initiation, including starting ART on the same day as HIV diagnosis.<sup>31</sup> Starting treatment on the day of diagnosis can lead to improved clinical outcomes, including in regards to virological suppression<sup>32</sup> and in lowering viral reservoirs within the central nervous system.<sup>33</sup> It is worth noting, however, that same-day initiation is particularly effective at addressing attrition during the period from HIV testing to ART initiation in settings where retention in care is low,<sup>34</sup> which is not the case in NSW.

The World Health Organization (WHO) now "strongly recommends ART initiation on the same day as HIV diagnosis based on the person's willingness and readiness to start ART immediately, unless there are clinical reasons to delay treatment".<sup>35</sup> In the US and Australia, guidelines indicate that on a case-by-case basis, ART may be deferred because of clinical and/ or psychosocial factors.<sup>36</sup> Clinical reasons for not starting ART immediately include whether a patient has tuberculosis (TB), which should be treated first.

There are indications of community support for starting treatment at the same time as a HIV diagnosis. In a survey conducted by Positive Life NSW, 84.9% of respondents indicated they would support starting treatment at the same time as a HIV diagnosis. Of those who identified as HIV positive, 79.8% supported starting treatment same day as diagnosis compared with 90.5% among those who identified as HIV negative or unknown status.<sup>37</sup>

### **NEW TREATMENTS ON THE HORIZON**

#### Safer drugs, fewer pills, still undetectable

As has been the case for the last 30 years, it is highly likely that treatment regimens will continue to improve. Despite advances, current treatments have a number of limitations for individuals and the health system, including toxicities associated with lifelong care, the need for daily pill-taking and associated psychological burden and costs. Although modern regimens are forgiving of missed doses, adherence to prescribed regimens remains paramount.

**Two-drug regimens**<sup>16</sup> (i.e. two drugs contained in a single pill), may partially address toxicities associated with lifelong antiretroviral therapy. A review of the literature on evidence documenting toxicities associated with long-term ART, particularly among ageing PLHIV, found that newer treatment regimens with fewer drugs may mitigate some of the cumulative toxicity burden of long-term ART<sup>17</sup>, while having a similar efficacy to a three-drug regimen.<sup>18</sup> Technological advances may also make it easier for a person to maintain an undetectable viral load (UVL) in ways that are similar to the management of other chronic conditions like diabetes. This includes maintaining a UVL with fewer pills thanks to **longeracting** or **extended-release antiretrovirals**, which could take the form of:

- injections administered on a monthly or less frequent basis;
- a slow-release capsule able to deliver a week's worth of HIV drugs in a single dose; and
- implants that are similar to diabetes-control minipumps or implanted contraceptive devices.

Longer-acting antiretrovirals may facilitate adherence to treatment for both therapeutic and prophlactic purposes. Some may find these innovative forms of treatment more convenient, especially for people who have to travel long distances to see their prescriber.

PLHIV might someday be able to maintain a UVL with biannual infusions of **anti-HIV antibodies**. Small studies involving a handful of patients have shown that broadly neutralizing antibodies had some potential.<sup>21</sup> A new clinical trial will evaluate whether periodic infusions delivered together every two to four weeks are safe and effective at suppressing HIV following discontinuation of ART.<sup>22</sup> Results are expected by mid-2022.

Because they are able to target HIV-infected cells, broadly neutralizing antibodies are also examined for their potential to be a part of a cure strategy.

In addition to a greater range of treatment options, technological advances may improve one's ability to monitor their own viral load and adjust treatments accordingly. This may become possible though smarter devices that would enable a person to gain greater control over their HIV monitoring.

PLHIV may soon be able to check their viral load from home, in a way that would resemble blood glucose monitors for the management of diabetes.

Prospects for greater autonomy raise important questions about ways to take advantage of self-monitoring devices while also maintaining engagement in care and support.

### Finding a cure

In the context of HIV, the term 'cure' has been used to mean different things. A **sterilising HIV cure** generally means the complete eradication within an individual of all HIV-infected cells, while a **functional HIV cure** is generally understood as achieving longterm remission (i.e. the absence of viral rebound after ART cessation for at least several years). In other words, with a functional cure, even after stopping ART, HIV would not reactivate in a person's body and they would be able to maintain viral control.

While it is hard to predict the future of cure research, significant developments should be noted.

In 2009, much hope was raised by the case of Timothy Brown, also known as the "Berlin patient", the first person to have been cured of HIV after undergoing stem cell transplantation.<sup>23</sup> Timothy Brown has not experienced viral rebound since ceasing ART after his procedure.<sup>24</sup>

Ten years later, a second case of long-term HIV remission also drew attention worldwide<sup>25</sup> - a London man has had no remaining detectable HIV since undergoing a bone marrow stem cell transplant to treat lymphoma. According to findings presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI 2019), "it is premature to conclude that this [London] patient has been cured."<sup>26</sup>

Significant progress has been made in understanding the latent HIV reservoir and how much virus persists after ART is ceased.<sup>27</sup>

Several individuals are known to have maintained UVL for months or years after stopping ART<sup>28 29</sup> and a number of trials in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected (SIV) macaque monkeys have led to sustained viral remission.<sup>27</sup> Research on vaccines is also considered in section 3.

Considerations should also be given to ensuring that any advances in treatment are accessible to all NSW residents as soon as they become available.

### **ACCESS TO TREATMENT**

As better drug regimens become available, it will be essential to ensure that everyone is able to access the treatment that best suits their needs.

NSW has already met UNAIDS' treatment target<sup>5</sup> as per the global 2016-2021 Strategy - On the Fast-Track to end AIDS, and is getting closer to meeting the ambitious targets set by the NSW and Commonwealth Governments (see figure 1).

It was estimated<sup>5</sup> that:

- 10,110 PLHIV resided in NSW in 2016, among whom 9230 (91.3%) were diagnosed. This is just over the target set by UNAIDS. That 90% of PLHIV know their status.
- In 2016, 8490 (92.0% of those diagnosed) were receiving ART. This is over the 90% target set by UNAIDS but under the NSW Government's target of 95%.
- Among PLHIV receiving ART in NSW, 8020 (94.5%) had suppressed their viral load (<200 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL). This is over the 90% target set by UNAIDS. Overall, 79.3% of all PLHIV (including those who know their HIV status and those who do not) had HIV virological suppression in NSW.

#### ESTIMATING HOW MANY PEOPLE DO NOT KNOW THEY HAVE HIV

Estimating the number of undiagnosed HIV cases, (i.e. the number of people who have HIV but don't know it) can be done via three main methods: biological assays, mathematical modelling, and a statistical approach called back-projection.<sup>38</sup>

In Australia, the COUNT study is a key reference that estimates the number of undiagnosed HIV using biological assays. Participants of the Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey were asked to provide oral fluid specimens for HIV testing to estimate the level of undiagnosed HIV among gay and bisexual men in New South Wales.<sup>39</sup>



Source: adapted from Keen, P., et al., 2018. Based on 2016 data.

Barriers will need to be addressed to ensure that all people access the same standard of treatment, care and choice.

Current restrictions to Medicare eligibility have created dual health systems. According to Positive Life NSW, as at October 2018 an estimated 281 people living with HIV were accessing HIV medicines via pharmaceutical companies' compassionate access schemes and sexual health clinics or other public health services in NSW. There are concerns that *ad hoc* solutions – applying for compassionate care from pharmaceutical companies, or seeking specific doctors – are inconsistently applied and not sustainable. A system or systems that enable newly diagnosed people to get access to ARVs quickly and sustainably are required.

Barriers also need to be addressed to ensure that people living in non-metropolitan areas are able to access HIV medication more easily.

### Figure 1: HIV Treatment Targets - How is NSW Tracking?

### **EVOLVING CARE NEEDS**

Beyond maintaining an undetectable viral load, a range of factors impact the health outcomes and quality of life of people living with HIV as they age. Addressing these factors will be essential to reach the 2018 - 2022 National HIV strategy target of 75% of people with HIV reporting good quality of life by 2022, and a greater proportion by 2030.

### **HEALTH RISK FACTORS**

PLHIV have an increased risk of serious noncommunicable diseases, including cardiovascular, liver and kidney disease, malignancies and bone disorders compared with the general population.<sup>40 41</sup> Human papilloma virus (HPV) related anal cancer incidence is significantly elevated among PLHIV, especially in gay and homosexually active men.<sup>42</sup>

In addition to advances in treatments for comorbidities, modifying lifestyle behaviours can substantially improve health outcomes for PLHIV. Ceasing smoking<sup>44</sup>, reducing alcohol consumption and addressing harmful substance use<sup>45</sup>, access to a healthy diet<sup>46</sup>, and exercising<sup>47</sup> contribute to greater health outcomes by preventing or reducing the impacts of comorbidities.

Smoking in particular is one of the most important modifiable traditional risk factors for noncommunicable diseases. It is estimated that daily smoking rates amongst PLHIV are three times higher than in the general population.<sup>48</sup>

### **AGEING AND DISABILITY**

Addressing ageing needs will be key to meeting the 2018 - 2022 National HIV Strategy target of 75% of PLHIV reporting good quality of life by 2022, and greater percentages by 2030.

Extended life expectancy due to better treatment, combined with the overall ageing Australian population, means that the average age of the HIV positive population will continue to rise. In 2017, 46% of PLHIV in Australia were over fifty.<sup>49</sup> Life expectancy, quality of life and personal experiences will vary between individuals within our communities, notably depending on when they initiated ART. New health challenges and care needs will emerge for a number of PLHIV as they age, including the management of several medications, frailty<sup>50</sup> (i.e. deficits in functional capacity and ability to perform activities of daily living), and various forms of mild to major neurocognitive impairment (NCI).

The exact role played by HIV in neurocognitive disorders and the extent to which these affect PLHIV is disputed. PLHIV may undergo accelerated cognitive ageing<sup>51</sup>, with some estimating that HIVassociated neurocognitive disorder (HAND) may already affect more than 20% of PLHIV.<sup>52</sup>

A recent survey found that HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder (HAND) was a concern among PLHIV in Australia.<sup>53</sup> However, another study of UK HIV-positive and HIV-negative men who have sex with men suggests that neurocognitive impairments may be overestimated in HIV-positive gay and homosexually active men and may not be attributed to HIV, calling into question the use of the term HAND.<sup>54</sup>

Much remains to be done to support PLHIV to age in their own homes, address gaps in aged care packages and better address complex needs.<sup>55</sup> This includes the need to manage the potential for polypharmacy, which can be complex for anyone living with any chronic condition.

Due to histories of stigma and discrimination, our communities often fear disclosing that they are LGBTQ or HIV positive, which may lead to some of their needs being unaddressed. Experiences of discrimination and poor treatment within aged care programs mean that many fear the consequences of being 'out' in older age.

It should also be noted that, currently, aged care packages are reserved for people over the age of 65, leaving gaps in the management of complex and advanced ageing needs for some PLHIV.

Systems interactions, eligibility criteria and the quality of packages under the National Disability Insurance Scheme will also play a significant role in achieving greater quality of life for people who concomitantly live with HIV and a disability. What it means to live with HIV will also depend on our collective ability to address social determinants of health, including by strengthening resilience, connection and social protection.

### **STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION**

The literature on stigma and health in general, and on HIV-related stigma in particular, has highlighted the impacts of discrimination (i.e., enacted stigma) on health outcomes. A review of 134 psychological studies found that perceived discrimination sets into motion a process of physiological responses (e.g., elevated blood pressure, heart rate, cortisol secretions) which can have downstream negative effects on health (e.g. cardiovascular disease risk).<sup>56</sup>

Stigma is associated with depressive symptoms among PLHIV and can be a barrier to both HIV prevention and engagement in HIV treatment and care. It contributes to treatment adherence difficulties and may prevent people from using health care.<sup>57</sup>

Our greater understanding of the considerable impacts of stigma highlights the need for renewed efforts to reach national stigma reduction targets. The 8th National HIV Strategy aims to reduce by 75% the reported experience of stigma among people with HIV, and expression of stigma, in relation to HIV status by 2022 and UNAIDS' has a target of 90% of people living with, at risk of and affected by HIV reporting no discrimination, especially in health, education and workplace settings.

In 2018, HIV-related discrimination remained high in NSW. While the Disability Discrimination Act makes it unlawful to discriminate against people because of their HIV status, according to an online survey conducted in 2016 as part of the Stigma Indicators Monitoring Project, 74% of PLHIV reported any stigma related to their HIV status.<sup>58</sup>

Over half reported negative experiences or different treatment by health workers.

Discrimination on the basis of HIV status also continues to occur within the gay community, including in the context of hook-ups where HIVnegative men choose not to have sex with HIV positive partners, even if they are undetectable.<sup>6</sup> Additional layers of stigma and discrimination are often experienced by PLHIV who are discriminated against because they are gay or have sex with men, inject drugs and/or engage in sex work.<sup>59</sup> HIV-related stigma, gender discrimination and racial discrimination are significantly correlated with one another.  $^{\rm 60}$ 

There has been considerable progress to identify effective interventions to reduce stigma and its impacts.<sup>61</sup> This includes interventions aimed at improving a better understanding of HIV in society or among specific groups who may be perpetrating discrimination, as well as approaches that focus on building resilience – i.e. the ability to function adaptively following an HIV diagnosis.

Social support and community engagement are positively associated with resilience, which in turn is associated with psychological health-related quality of life among older HIV-positive gay and bisexual men.<sup>62</sup>

### **ISOLATION**

Loneliness and isolation are commonly reported as a major issue by PLHIV in major cities around the globe. A study in the city of San Francisco found that 58% of HIV-positive adults over the age of fifty who participated in the research reported any forms of loneliness symptoms.<sup>63</sup> Positive Voices, a large survey of 4,415 HIV clinic patients in the UK found that help with dealing with loneliness and isolation was their greatest unmet need.<sup>64</sup>

Considering the significant health impacts of chronic social isolation – with one British study finding it had implications for heart disease and stroke that are comparable to smoking 15 cigarettes a day<sup>65</sup> strengthening community connection will become increasingly essential.

It has been shown that HIV-positive gay men are more likely to flourish when they have a greater level of practical support in their lives, a sense of belonging or companionship, and feel supported by family.<sup>66</sup>

### **SOCIAL PROTECTION**

Based on an increasing volume of research that suggests that social factors are the cause of many health inequalities<sup>67</sup>, UNAIDS' global plan to end AIDS aims for 75% of people living with, at risk of and affected by HIV, who are in need, benefit from HIVsensitive social protection.

Progress towards this indicator is not systematically monitored in Australia but a number of indicators point to socio-economic disadvantage among PLHIV. Of the PLHIV who completed the *Futures 8* survey, half were living on household incomes substantially lower than the average Australian income and close to one in four had experienced significant financial stress in the past two years.

Those who had experienced financial stress had poorer health, more experiences of HIV-related stigma and lower levels of resilience, although causality could not be established by this study.<sup>68</sup>

In addition to income inequalities, action will be required in the areas of education, employment, housing and social support, and other social determinants of health.<sup>69</sup> A number of service gaps in these areas should be addressed, including the lack of safe, affordable and secure housing. People over 55 are over-represented among those living in temporary and insecure housing, and are at greater risk of homelessness, due to a chronic shortage of age-appropriate and affordable housing.<sup>70</sup>

Political decisions and structural changes that relate to working for welfare payments, changes to the retirement age and access to the aged care pension will impact PLHIV.

### **FUTURE SCENARIOS FOR 2030 - LIVING WITH HIV**

Based on the foreseeable trends examined in previous sections, the way the future looks for PLHIV could vary substantially. In this section, we present three possible trajectories for the NSW HIV response, and their potential impacts on PLHIV. All three scenarios assume that some advances in biomedical prevention will occur but that no cure or vaccine will be available in the next decade.

### **CHARACTERISTICS OF NSW HIV RESPONSES**

### SCENARIO 1: HEALTHY, CONNECTED AND THRIVING

Policy responses are developed with the greater and meaningful involvement of people living with HIV (GIPA/MIPA)

The current pillars of, and investment in, NSW's world leading HIV responses are maintained, including:

- political bipartisanship
- partnership
- a focus on testing to reduce the number of undiagnosed HIV cases, early treatment initiation and viral suppression
- peer support

Investments are made to ensure everyone can access biomedical advances by removing barriers, including restrictions to accessing Medicare and the PBS.

The needs of an ageing HIV positive population are better understood and addressed holistically, including through investments in research and programs that address comorbidities for people living longer with HIV.

Deliberate action is taken to reduce stigma and discrimination and their impacts, including large-scale HIV information campaigns and targeted resiliencebuilding programs.

### **SCENARIO 2: STATUS QUO**

The key pillars of NSW's HIV responses are maintained; however, gaps remain unaddressed.

Significant biomedical advances are available, but not to everyone. People who are not eligible for Medicare rely on compassionate access schemes, the future of which is uncertain.

Beyond HIV treatment, the broader range of factors affecting the health and quality of life of PLHIV, particularly as they age, remains unaddressed. The specific needs of PLHIV in aged care remain poorly understood.

Gaps remain in coordination and systems integration, including between health, digital health, disability and social services, remain.

The lack of funding for targeted approaches for PLHIV who are Aboriginal and those from a CALD background remains.

No further action is taken to tackle stigma and discrimination.

### **SCENARIO 3: INEQUALITIES**

In this scenario, we see a retreat of investments in evidence-based and community-informed policies.

HIV becomes a battlefield in a political climate that no longer puts affected populations at the centre of the response.

In an increasingly Government-controlled response where the GIPA/MIPA is not prioritised, punitive measures are adopted to force testing and treatment adherence. A 2018 Police Association proposal to require the mandatory testing of people whose bodily fluids come into contact with police is adopted, against scientific evidence and community advice. Other criminalising and stigmatising law reforms are mooted and gain popularity. Risk-reduction programs are withdrawn or operate with reduced funding.

Further restrictions for overseas-born NSW residents to access Medicare and social services are adopted.

Insufficient public investments are put in the healthcare system.

The position of NSW as a leader in the HIV response globally slides, and our response is less evidencebased and less well-resourced.

#### **POSSIBLE IMPACTS**

#### SCENARIO 1: HEALTHY, CONNECTED AND THRIVING

HIV becomes a case study of one of the best-managed chronic conditions due to NSW's world-leading response.

The number of people who are not aware they have HIV drops to extremely low levels, people who are newly diagnosed get access to treatment earlier on, and the vast majority of those on treatment achieve viral suppression.

All people with HIV benefit from pharmaceutical advances and have access to the treatment that best

suits their individual needs. Most only have to take pills or receive injections a few times a year.

It is a more equitable future in which all PLHIV have equal access to high quality care and can age well.

PLHIV are connected to their community and can thrive, free of stigma and discrimination.

Partnerships are sustained and multi-party support for sustaining near zero HIV transmissions in NSW strengthens.

### **SCENARIO 2: STATUS QUO**

The key pillars of HIV responses, combined with biomedical advances, lead to positive health outcomes, especially for non-Indigenous Australianborn Medicare-eligible PLHIV.

With unequal access to biomedical advances and care, however, PLHIV who are not eligible for Medicare, are Aboriginal or from a CALD background have poorer health outcomes.

Not living well with HIV increasingly becomes the

experience of people who live in poverty or are socially disenfranchised.

Beyond treatment, gaps in service coordination and a lack of holistic responses mean that some of the challenges associated with ageing are not managed adequately.

Stigma and discrimination continue to negatively impact health outcomes for PLHIV, and are a disincentive for everyone to have a HIV test.

#### **SCENARIO 3: INEQUALITIES**

The healthcare system is increasingly unequal and expensive, leading to poorer health outcomes for those who cannot access it or afford out-of-pocket expenses.

Restrictions to accessing the public health system lead to poor health outcomes for overseas-born NSW residents, which in turn lead to poorer public health outcomes for the entire population.

Punitive approaches erode trust in public health institutions, leading to service avoidance. In this context, outcomes in relation to treatment targets deteriorate. Punitive approaches also lead to heightened fears of HIV, stigma and discrimination, which in turn result in poorer public health outcomes.

Increases in HIV transmission in this context can easily be envisaged.

3. ENDING HIV TRANSMISSIONS



While the number of transmissions is declining overall, the HIV epidemic is increasingly driven by new, or at least newly visible, forms of marginalisation.

### 3. ENDING HIV TRANSMISSIONS

While our efforts have led to a formidable decline in new HIV notifications, the end of HIV transmissions may not occur as early as we had hoped. Harnessing technological advances and adapting HIV response systems will be critical to reaching and maintaining virtual elimination by 2030.

### **ARE WE ON TRACK TO END HIV TRANSMISSIONS?**

The NSW Government has set the ambitious goal of virtually eliminating new HIV transmissions. The NSW 2016-2020 HIV Strategy aims to virtually eliminate HIV transmissions among gay and homosexually active men, which is the focus of ACON's 'Ending HIV' campaign<sup>71</sup>, and to sustain the virtual elimination of HIV transmission in people who inject drugs, sex workers and from mother to child.

The term 'virtual elimination' is commonly understood as a reduction of HIV transmissions to extremely low levels.

What we do know is that NSW recorded the lowest number of HIV notifications on record in 2018. This provides evidence that the key elements of our collective response are delivering results:

- **STAYING SAFE**. Refers to sustaining a safe sex culture over time. In addition to condoms, there are now a variety of biomedical options available to practice safe sex, including treatment as prevention, PEP and PrEP. Over 9,415 individuals were enrolled in the EPIC-NSW trial. Evidence shows that PrEP implementation was associated with a rapid decline in HIV diagnoses in NSW.<sup>72</sup> Initially distributed through the EPIC-NSW trial, PrEP is now available in pharmacies across the country and subsidised by the Australian Government. Between the PBS listing of PrEP in April 2018 and 30 September 2018, 4,771 NSW residents accessed HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) through the PBS.<sup>1</sup>
- **TESTING OFTEN**. The number of tests and frequency of testing have significantly increased since 2012.<sup>1</sup> Testing is now available in a variety of settings, including community rapid testing centres which have proven to be an effective testing model for engaging gay and bisexual men.

- **TREATING EARLY**. The proportion of people diagnosed with HIV in January to June 2018 who commenced treatment within six weeks of diagnosis was 83%. The median number of days to ART uptake among those diagnosed during that period was 21 days, a significant decline from the median of 45 days in 2013.<sup>1</sup> This contributes to reducing time to achieving undetectable=untransmissible viral loads, and therefore the number of HIV transmissions.
- ACCESS TO STERILE INJECTING EQUIPMENT. The number of units of injecting equipment distributed in NSW continues to increase. In 2017/2018, 14,130,769 units of injecting equipment were distributed in NSW.<sup>73</sup> There are extremely low transmission rates among PWID in NSW. The NSW HIV Strategy has a goal to continue the virtuial elimination of HIV among PWID.
- **DECRIMINALISED SEX WORK**, which is essential to ensuring that sex workers can safely access testing and health care services. Given the extremely low transmission rates for sex workers, the NSW Strategy speaks to a continuation of the virtual elimination of HIV among sex workers.
- **UNIVERSAL HEALTHCARE**. Access and linkage to quality care, underpinned by Medicare, is the foundation upon which all other aspects of HIV responses rely.

However, while excellent progress has been made, the 'virtual elimination' of new HIV transmissions may not occur as early as we had hoped (see Figure 2). A significant challenge will be to maintain our effective prevention work with the communities we already have excellent engagement with, while also responding to a diversified epidemic (see section 3.3).



### Figure 2 Number of new HIV notifications, 2007-2018

Source: adapted from NSW HIV Strategy 2012 - 2015 2013 Annual Data Report and NSW HIV Strategy 2016 - 2020 Quarter 4 & Annual 2018 Data Report.

### WHAT BIOMEDICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANCES ARE ON THE HORIZON?

The research and development programs of pharmaceutical companies are not known - however, longer acting preparations, different delivery technologies, and a range of other reforms are forseeable in the next decade.

Technological advances will make it easier to test for HIV from virtually anywhere and to access various prevention methods. Making sure community members understand and have access to them will be critically important to reduce transmissions.

### **TESTING**

Technological advances will reduce some of the barriers to getting tested for HIV and reach populations who are at a greater risk of acquiring the virus, including overseas-born gay and homosexually active men.

### **DRIED BLOOD SPOT**

Dried Blood Spot (DBS) is a testing method that allows testing to occur from someone's home, or any other location a person chooses. Testing kits can be ordered online and allow a person to collect a finger prick sample of blood at home. The sample is then posted to a laboratory for analysis and results and follow up care is coordinated through the NSW Sexual Health Infolink.

DBS testing is available in NSW via a pilot program<sup>74</sup> which has demonstrated it is an effective approach for populations who may not get tested in traditional settings. Between November 2016 and 30 June 2018, 1,082 DBS kits were ordered and 672 DBS tests completed in NSW (return rate of 62%). Over 40% of the people who registered for a DBS kit had never tested for HIV before or had their last test over two years ago, 0.7% of tests (n=5/672) were reactive.<sup>1</sup>

DBS (and self-testing) may be one of the responses to the increasing dispersion of gay and bisexual men outside the inner city suburbs of Sydney.

### **SELF-TESTING**

HIV self-tests use similar technology to rapid HIV tests but they are operated directly by the person wishing to take the test, from wherever they want. Contrary to DBS, self-testing kits provide a result within about 30 minutes without requiring posting to a laboratory. In the event of a reactive result, confirmatory laboratory testing is required.

HIV self-testing could significantly increase status awareness among key populations. A randomised controlled trial among HIV-negative high-risk gay and bisexual men in Australia, found that HIV selftesting resulted in a two times increase in frequency of testing, and a nearly four times increase in nonrecent testers, compared with standard care.<sup>75</sup> By providing near immediate results, self-testing would be well-suited for over a quarter of those who order a DBS test but never send it back to get the results.

In November 2018, the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) approved the Atomo selftest as the first rapid test for the detection of HIV antibodies for home use in Australia. As per the TGA's decision, the test can be purchased online, subject to consumers viewing an instructional video; and through clinics or health organisations with trained staff. The device has now become available at a cost of approximately AUD\$25.

As HIV self-tests become available across NSW, it will be important to support its informed and effective use, including by encouraging people to test at frequencies which are most appropriate for their risk behaviours, and ensure that people who return a reactive self-test are linked to and remain in care as soon as possible (should laboratory testing confirm a positive diagnosis).

Self-testing kits may be particularly appropriate for people who do not feel comfortable in traditional testing facilities or may have little awareness of their exposure to risk.

In the longer term, subject to changes in TGA approval conditions, kits could be distributed in a wider range of settings including in pharmacies, universities, public toilets, beats and sex-on-premises venues.

### **GENERAL HEALTH CHECK-UPS**

Opportunities to increase HIV and STI testing may also include GPs offering testing as part of a general health check-up.<sup>76</sup> This may be particularly relevant to people who have a limited understanding of HIV risks, including newly-arrived migrants. A recent study on barriers to testing among Australian residents born in South East Asia and sub-Saharan Africa found that offering HIV as part of a general health check-up and making HIV 'an issue for everyone' may be an effective strategy to address fears of disclosure and stigma.<sup>76</sup>

### PREVENTION

Biomedical options are rapidly becoming gay men's prevention method of choice. In 2018, over half of men reporting condomless anal sex with casual partners in the Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey were either HIV-positive men with an UVL or HIV-negative men using PrEP.<sup>6</sup>

As the reach and range of biomedical options available for HIV prevention are expected to keep expanding, the challenge will be to make sure they are accessible to everyone who needs them.

### CONDOMS

In recent years, consistent condom use has decreased among gay and homosexually active men. Since 2014, a larger number of gay and bisexual men have been reporting condomless anal sex with casual partners (57% in 2018), while the proportion reporting consistent condom use has dramatically fallen from 47.3% in 2014 to 26.4% in 2018. This is largely due to a growing number of men using PrEP as their preferred HIV prevention method. Similar trends are observed in the context of relationships, most notably in serodiscordant couples<sup>6</sup>

Decreased condom use raises challenges for the prevention of other sexually transmissible infections. Since the early 2010's, there has been an increase in the number of syphilis, chlamydia and gonorrhoea notifications in NSW. The latter is raising growing concerns both nationally<sup>77</sup> and internationally<sup>78</sup> due to possible drug resistance.<sup>79</sup>

Over the past five years, the number of gonorrhoea notifications in NSW has been increasing each year. While some of this increase may be attributed to increased testing, changes in the notification-totest ratio suggests there has been an increase in gonorrhoea transmission in NSW as well.<sup>80</sup>

### PEP

PEP is an effective method to prevent HIV transmission in emergency situations shortly after a high risk exposure. Currently, PEP medication must be started at most 72 hours after a possible risk exposure, and should be continued for 28 days to be effective.

As HIV treatment research progresses, PEP may also evolve and become available in new forms such as injections, with reduced side effects.

### PREP

PrEP is a highly effective HIV prevention strategy at both individual and population level<sup>72</sup> and has become the most commonly reported risk reduction strategy by HIV-negative men who have condomless anal sex with casual partners.<sup>6</sup>

New and more affordable PrEP drugs, as well as tailoring dosing to people's lifestyles and risk profiles, could significantly increase HIV protection coverage and application.

#### **Reducing side effects**

The small number of people experiencing side effects from current PrEP drugs (e.g. issues related to kidney health and bone mineral density) could soon have access to new effective drug options with fewer or less serious side effects.

#### **PrEP dosing options**

Different dosing options have the potential to significantly increase coverage among at-risk populations but will require clarifying clinical guidelines and community education messages.

### • Daily PrEP

PrEP has commonly been prescribed in NSW as a one-pill-a-day prevention method since the beginning of the PrEP research trials<sup>\*</sup>. The rapid decline of HIV transmissions in NSW is associated with daily PrEP use.<sup>72</sup>

The current clinical guidelines issued by the Australasian Society for HIV, Viral Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine (ASHM) recommend daily PrEP to be used as a key HIV-prevention option for gay and homosexually active men, transgender people, heterosexual men and women, and people who inject drugs at substantial risk of HIV acquisition.<sup>81</sup>

Daily PrEP can be used continuously or for shorter periods of time also known as "seasons of risk" such as a holiday.

<sup>\*</sup> From 2016 to April 2018, PrEP was predominately accessed by the 9,415 individual EPIC-NSW Study participants and prescribed as a one-pill-a-day regimen.

### On-demand PrEP

On-demand PrEP means using PrEP around episodes of risk, rather than taking a pill a day over a long period. There is a demand for non-daily PrEP.<sup>82</sup>

According to the ASHM guidelines, "on-demand PrEP should be considered an alternative regimen for gay and homosexually active men and transgender women and offered where appropriate". Yet, the guidelines lack precision, particularly in regards to how long before and after risk exposure a person should take their ondemand PrEP. The guidelines note that "on-demand PrEP should not be used in cis-gender women and heterosexual men as there is currently no evidence of effectiveness in these populations."<sup>81</sup>

On-demand PrEP is routinely prescribed in some countries such as France where its efficacy has been studied in a randomised, placebo-controlled trial which concluded that the "use of TDF-FTC before and after sexual activity provided protection against HIV-1 infection in men who have sex with men".<sup>83</sup> An extension study also found that ondemand PrEP remained highly effective in high-risk gay and homosexually active men as long as it was taken.<sup>84</sup>

Research is also under way for new drugs that concentrate better in vaginal tissue and thus give people having vaginal sex more flexibility with dosing.

### Long-acting PrEP

Improvements to ARV treatments (see section 2) could also be used to make PrEP more convenient to take. This includes longer-acting or extended-release PrEP in the form of a slow-release capsule able to deliver a week's worth of PrEP in a single dose; injections administered on a monthly or less frequent basis; and PrEP-delivering implants.

Cabotegravir (integrase inhibitor) is being studied in both an oral tablet form and a long-acting injectable form which could work over a long period of time, making treatment or prevention regimens simpler to take.<sup>85</sup>

Two studies testing whether an investigational antibody can prevent HIV infections are also underway. The Antibody Mediated Prevention (AMP) studies seek to establish if giving people an antibody called VRC01 intravenously will protect them from getting infected with HIV.<sup>86</sup> One study is looking at the effects on men and transgender persons who have sex with men<sup>87</sup> and the other is looking at the effects on women<sup>88</sup>. Results from both studies are expected in 2020.

### A better understanding of rare transmission cases

While PrEP is a highly effective prevention method, there have been extremely rare instances of HIV transmission in PrEP adherent patients. It is hoped that progress in research will bring a better understanding of the factors that have contributed to six rare cases of HIV transmission in PrEP adherent people worldwide, including the role of other STIs.<sup>89</sup>

### VACCINES

Since the late 1980's, the history of HIV vaccine development has often raised hopes and created disappointments. While it is not possible to predict when we will have a vaccine with sufficient efficacy, recent developments offer interesting insights for the future of research into HIV vaccines that would protect HIV-negative people from acquiring the virus. Scientists have attempted a number of approaches for the development of a vaccine.<sup>90</sup>

So far, the RV144 trial is the first and only trial of a vaccine against HIV-1 to show a degree of efficacy. The ALVAC vaccine and AIDSVAX booster vaccine regimen was tested among 16,402 healthy Thai men and women at heterosexual risk of HIV infection. Research published in 2009 showed that the vaccine had a 31.2% efficacy and did not affect the CD4+ T-cell count in subjects who were later diagnosed with HIV-1 infection.<sup>91</sup>

The APPROACH phase 1/2a trial also offers cautious optimism.<sup>92</sup> The mosaic Ad26/Ad26 plus gp140 HIV-1 vaccine induced robust immune responses in healthy adults. The term mosaic is used because this vaccine regimen aims to elicit an immune response against an array of HIV subtypes. The regimen also protected monkeys against infection from the Simian human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV). This vaccine has now advanced to the next phase of the pre-approval trial process (phase 2b clinical efficacy study) and will be tested in sub-Saharan Africa.<sup>93</sup>

### TREATMENT AS PREVENTION -UNDETECTABLE=UNTRANSMISSIBLE

Treatment as Prevention (TasP) is the use of antiretroviral medication by PLHIV to prevent the transmission of HIV. Treatments suppress the HIV viral load in a person's bodily fluids to undetectable levels, meaning that the virus cannot get passed on to another person during sex. As indicated in section 2, treatment coverage is high in NSW. It was estimated that in 2016 91.3% PLHIV knew their status, 92% of whom were receiving ART, 94.5% of whom had suppressed viral load.<sup>5</sup>

Numerous trials have confirmed that there is no risk of HIV transmission from someone who is on HIV treatment with an undetectable viral load. The HPTN 052 study of 1,763 HIV sero-discordant couples in nine countries, concluded that HIV transmission from HIV positive study participants to their partners was not observed when viral replication in the treated individual was stably suppressed by ART.<sup>94</sup> PARTNER, an observational study in HIV-serodiscordant heterosexual and gay couples having ongoing condomless sex over 1,238 couple-years of follow-up, did not record any cases of within-couple HIV transmission.<sup>95</sup>

The Opposites Attract study of male homosexual serodiscordant couples conducted in Australia, Brazil and Thailand found that no HIV-negative partner contracted HIV from his HIV-positive study partner, despite nearly 17,000 reported acts of condomless anal sex within couples.<sup>96</sup>

Community perceptions of HIV treatment have shifted in recent years in NSW. Online surveys conducted since the start of the "Ending HIV" campaign show significant shifts in the percentage of respondents who agree that "HIV treatments significantly reduce the risk of passing on HIV" over time, from only 33% in February 2013 prior to the launch of "Ending HIV" to 84% in March 2018.<sup>1</sup>

Continued community education on the effectiveness of treatment as prevention will play a role in making sure that this method of prevention is understood.

### COMMUNITY MOBILISATION AND ENGAGEMENT

In a prevention landscape that is increasingly centred on individualised biomedical interventions, the role of community health organisations is evolving.

Beyond promoting access to a range of prevention methods, community organisations have a key role to play in bringing peers together and developping holistic approaches to improve the health and quality of life of our communities beyong taking pills. This includes building community connection and resilience to address stigma and discrimination.

Health promotion is constantly evolving to be in the physical and digital places where people at risk of getting HIV connect with each other and seek information about their own health. In the 2018 Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey, 51% of respondents said they had found their male sex partners through mobile apps<sup>6</sup>, a trend that we expect to continue.

Increasingly sophisticated digital technologies are expanding the reach of health promotion messages in a cost-effective manner. They also allow the delivery of more sophisticated messages tailored to individuals, and can facilitate the conversion from knowledge into service access (e.g. immediate booking for HIV testing apppointment or ordering a self-testing kit).

### **ENDING HIV TRANSMISSIONS FOR ALL**

While the number of transmissions is declining overall, the HIV epidemic is increasingly driven by new, or at least newly visible, forms of marginalisation. Ending HIV transmissions will require maintaining our efforts with populations we have already reached, while also understanding and addressing the barriers that prevent some from testing and staying safe.

The response to the HIV epidemic in NSW has traditionally been centred on reducing transmissions among people who identify as gay, are well connected to their community and predominantly live in a restricted geographical area in the inner city suburbs of Sydney. While highly effective at reaching this population, HIV statistics raise concerns that some have been left behind.<sup>1</sup>

### GAY AND HOMOSEXUALLY ACTIVE MEN

In 2018, over three quarters of HIV transmissions occurred among gay and homosexually active men, a majority of whom were born overseas. While the number of new diagnoses among Australian-born gay and homosexually active men in 2018 was 33% less than the average of the previous five years, the number of new diagnoses among overseas-born gay and homosexually active men was just 3% less than the average of the previous five years.<sup>1</sup>

To understand the factors behind these disparities, it is necessary to take into account the heterogeneity of the overseas-born population.

Of 216 MSM newly diagnosed with HIV in NSW during 2018, 44% were born in Australia, 19% in South-East Asia, 11% in Southern & Central America, 7% each in North-East Asia and North-West Europe, and less than 5% in each of North Africa & Middle East, Oceania, Southern & Central Asia, Southern & Eastern Europe and Sub-Saharan Africa.

Furthermore, overseas-born gay and homosexually active men include men who have arrived in Australia at various stages of their lives.

Some may have arrived recently, such as international students on temporary visas who may not have access to Medicare, nor be familiar with the Australian health system.

Others may have arrived in Australia when they were young, hold Australian citizenship, speak English natively and have access to Medicare.

Several factors have been put forward to explain the disparities between Australian-born and overseas-born gay and homosexually active men, including linguistic and cultural factors, and structural barriers.

Some research points to health literacy, language and cultural factors that may contribute to people in this group not getting tested or accessing prevention or treatment.

For instance, a recent study on barriers to testing for HIV for people born in South East Asia and sub-Saharan Africa found that participants' understanding of HIV and readiness to get tested were influenced by experiences in their country of birth, low visibility of HIV in Australia, perceptions of 'safety' in Australia and low levels of perception of individual risk for HIV.<sup>76</sup>

Others have highlighted the role of structural barriers and systemic failures that restrict people's ability to access healthcare in general, and HIV prevention and treatment in particular. This includes the dual standard of care that exists in Australia – Australians, permanent residents and temporary migrants from the UK, NZ and a number of European countries have access to Medicare and the PBS, while newly-arrived migrants from Asia, Africa and the Americas remain locked out of Medicare and the PBS.

Other structural factors include a lack of services in areas with large overseas-born populations. Equitable access to and coordination of care is a priority action area under the National HIV Strategy.

Increasing testing should be a priority among overseasborn gay and bisexual men. There are high levels of estimated undiagnosed HIV among overseas-born gay and homosexually active men. It is estimated that people born in Southeast Asia have the highest proportion of undiagnosed HIV (27%).<sup>11</sup>

In terms of prevention methods, there are indications of PrEP and condom use among overseas-born gay and bisexual men at levels that are comparable with those of Australian-born gay and bisexual men:

- **PrEP** of the 9,281 participants enrolled in EPIC-NSW between 1 March 2016 and 30 April 2018, over 40% were born overseas.<sup>1</sup> This is quite high considering that 34.5% of people living in NSW were born overseas.<sup>97</sup> The listing of PrEP on the PBS makes it difficult to evaluate how many overseas-born gay and homosexually active men are accessing PrEP.
- **Condoms** In the 2018 Sydney Gay Community Periodic Survey 2018, overseas-born men were more likely to report consistent condom use (29%), and less likely to report receptive condomless anal sex with casual partners (16%).<sup>6</sup> Asian-born men were more likely to report no anal sex (28%), more likely to report condom use (21%), and less likely to report condomless sex (51%) with their regular male partners.<sup>6</sup>

Data from the NSW Ministry of Health suggests there are small differences in time to treatment initiation between overseas-born and Australian-born MSM. Where follow up data is available (i.e. for people who remained residents of NSW and were eligible for follow up), 92% of overseas-born MSM were on ART 6 months after diagnosis, compared with 94% of Australian-born MSM.<sup>98</sup>

### **HETEROSEXUAL PEOPLE**

In 2018, 52 people acquired HIV via heterosexual sex, accounting for 19% of all new HIV notifications in NSW. This represents a small reduction compared with the new diagnosis averages of 2013-2017.

### **PEOPLE WHO USE DRUGS**

In 2018, five people who inject drugs were diagnosed with HIV. In addition, 18 gay and homosexually active men who inject drugs were diagnosed with HIV.

The number of new diagnoses from injecting drugs is low and is expected to remain so as long as the fundamental pillars of the response to HIV are maintained, including the Needle and Syringe Program (NSP). Despite its effectiveness, the NSW's prisoner population is still denied access to a similar program.

#### **TRANS AND GENDER DIVERSE PEOPLE**

In 2018, three people who identified as transgender were notified that they had HIV.

A recent discussion paper published by ACON, PASH. TM and The Gender Centre highlighted failures of surveillance systems to capture data on the experiences and needs of trans and non-binary people in relation to HIV, and identified specific and unique HIV risks, including the physical effects of hormones on their susceptibility to HIV, risk of sexual assault, criminalisation, and transphobia.<sup>7</sup>

The report called for amendments to the HIV surveillance system and to reform the legal, social and funding environments that affect access to HIV prevention, treatment and care.

It further recommended that trans and gender diverse people be recognised as a high risk population with unique needs in the NSW HIV Strategy and Australia's National HIV Strategy.

The recent inclusion of trans and gender diverse people as a priority population under the 8th National HIV Strategy 2018-2022 is a hopeful first step towards their meaningful inclusion in HIV responses.

# ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER PEOPLE

In NSW, the number of HIV notifications in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population has been relatively stable since the beginning of this decade but increased from an average of 8 new notifications per year in the 2013-2017 period to 11 new notifications in 2018.

At a national level, the HIV epidemic is growing in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population. The number of HIV notifications in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population increased from 24 in 2011 to 31 in 2017 in Australia. Over the years 2015–2017, a higher proportion of HIV notifications in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population were attributed to heterosexual sex (21%) and injecting drug use (18%) than in the Australian-born non-indigenous population (18% and 3%, respectively).<sup>11</sup> Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in Australia face structural barriers and compounded disadvantage, which are reflected in a range of health indicators. For the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population born in 2010–2012, life expectancy was estimated to be 10.6 years lower than that of the non-Indigenous population for males (69.1 years compared with 79.7) and 9.5 years for females (73.7 years compared with 83.1).<sup>99</sup>

ACON is currently developing a discussion paper on HIV among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in NSW.

### **PEOPLE IN CUSTODIAL SETTINGS**

Ensuring that people have access to HIV prevention and care no matter where they are, including in prison, is essential to ending HIV transmissions. People in prison are excluded from Medicare coverage, with prison health care provided by states and territories.

It is hard to estimate the number of PLHIV in prison, including those who acquired HIV while incarcerated. Since 1999, all people in prison are offered screening for BBVs and STIs on a voluntary basis upon entry; however no testing is available on exit.

Despite the ongoing effectiveness of NSW's communitybased needle and syringe program, people who are in NSW prisons are still denied access to a similar program.

### **FUTURE SCENARIOS FOR 2030 - HIV TRANSMISSIONS**

In this section, we present three simplified scenarios for the NSW HIV response and their potential impacts on HIV transmissions in the State. All three scenarios assume that some advances in biomedical prevention will occur but that no cure or vaccine will be available in the next decade.

### **CHARACTERISTICS OF NSW HIV RESPONSES**

### **SCENARIO 1: THE END OF HIV TRANSMISSIONS FOR ALL**

The current pillars of the NSW HIV response and investments are maintained (see page 18) and, in addition:

- New programs and campaigns targeting overseasborn and CALD gay and homosexually active men are funded, rolled out and evaluated;
- Structural barriers to accessing prevention and healthcare are addressed. This includes extending Medicare and PBS to all residents;
- Funding for Aboriginal sexual health services is restored, and enhanced, and specific support is

available State-wide;

- New strategies and investments are made to increase testing rates in Western Sydney and regional NSW, including through home and community-based testing services;
- A campaign targeting Australians travelling to countries of high HIV prevalence is rolled out.
- Adequate surveillance systems and rapid outbreak response planning are designed to sustain the virtual elimination of HIV transmissions.

### **SCENARIO 2: STATUS QUO**

Current NSW HIV responses are maintained without additional investment, innovation or targeted responses.

The key elements of HIV responses in NSW include: STAYING SAFE TESTING OFTEN TREATING EARLY ACCESS TO STERILE INJECTING EQUIPMENT DECRIMINALISED SEX WORK

#### **SCENARIO 3: GOING BACKWARDS**

Funding for testing, prevention and care services reduce due to lower rates of transmission and an assumption that 'the job is done'. HIV notifications are considered 'low enough' and disinvestment is considered appropriate in this context.

In an increasingly acrimonious political context, the fundamentals of the NSW HIV response are eroded.

The politicisation of drug use, sex work and other policies lead to a shift towards increasing criminalisation.

No change occurs in trying to reach CALD populations, Aboriginal communities and people who are not eligible for Medicare.

#### **POSSIBLE IMPACTS**

#### **SCENARIO 1: THE END OF HIV TRANSMISSIONS FOR ALL**

NSW becomes the first jurisdiction in the world to reach the virtual elimination of HIV transmissions.

No one gets left behind. Rates of HIV notifications drop significantly among all populations. Notification gaps between non-Indigenous Australian-born gay men and their Aboriginal and overseas-born peers close.

The virtual elimination is sustained throughout the entire decade.

Health literacy and service access is improved for CALD populations at risk of HIV transmission.

Access to HIV prevention and treatment is not subject to the Medicare eligibility barrier.

The HIV response in NSW is multi-faceted, diverse and world leading.

#### **SCENARIO 2: STATUS QUO**

The number of new HIV transmissions in NSW continues to decrease, although at a rate that is too slow to realise the goal of virtual elimination of HIV transmissions.

HIV responses continue to reduce transmissions among Australian-born gay and bisexual men who live in Sydney's gay suburbs and for whom frequent testing and PrEP have become a norm.

However, notifications among other gay and bisexual men plateau or rise – overseas-born gay men, international students, people who are not eligible for Medicare or familiar with the health system, and those who live outside gay suburbs.

The notification rate gap between non-Indigenous and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people remains.

The NSW HIV epidemic is characterised by inequality, disadvantage and marginalisation. Some populations are left behind.

HIV responses continue to prove highly effective at maintaining the virtual elimination of HIV transmissions in people who inject drugs, sex workers and from mother to child.

#### **SCENARIO 3: GOING BACKWARDS**

Similar to what has occurred in jurisdictions that have adopted punitive responses or withdrawn funding from HIV services, the number of new HIV transmissions in NSW increases again.

The impacts of these policies are particularly severe for populations who are most stigmatised, marginalised or otherwise isolated.

### 4. REFFERENCES

- 1. NSW Government, 2019. NSW HIV Strategy 2016 2020 Quarter 4 & Annual 2018 Data Report.
- 2. NAPWHA, 2014. Through our eyes Thirty years of people living with HIV responding to the HIV and AIDS epidemics in Australia.
- 3. Australian Government, 2018. National HIV Strategy 2018-2022.
- 4. NSW Government, 2012. NSW HIV Strategy 2016-2020.
- Keen, P., Gray, R.T., Telfer, B., Guy, R., Schmidt, H.M., Whittaker, B., Holden, J., Holt, M., Kelleher, A., Wilson, D. and Callander, D., 2018. The 2016 HIV diagnosis and care cascade in New South Wales, Australia: meeting the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets. Journal of the International AIDS Society, 21(4), p.e25109.
- 6. Broady, T., Mao, L., Lee, E., Bavinton, B., Keen, P., Bambridge, C., Mackie, B., Duck, T., Cooper, C., Prestage, G., & Holt, M., 2018. Gay Community Periodic Survey: Sydney 2018. Sydney: Centre for Social Research in Health, UNSW Sydney.
- 7. Stardust, Z., Cook, T., Hopkins, L., Gray, J., Olsen, K., 2017. Effective and Meaningful Inclusion of Trans and Gender Diverse People in HIV Prevention. Sydney: ACON and PASH.tm.
- 8. ABS, 2018. 3218.0 Regional Population Growth, Australia, 2016-17.
- 9. ABS, 2018. 2071.0 Census of Population and Housing: Reflecting Australia - Stories from the Census, 2016.
- 10. NSW Government, 2018. NSW HIV Strategy 2016 2020 Quarter 4 & Annual 2017 Data Report.
- 11. Kirby Institute, 2018. HIV in Australia: annual surveillance short report 2018. Sydney: Kirby Institute, UNSW Sydney.
- UNAIDS, Global HIV & AIDS statistics 2018 fact sheet. Available at http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet [accessed 05/12/2018]
- 13. Gosia Mikołajczak, Jennifer Power, Graham Brown, 2018. Profiles of PLHIV in Australia. Understanding the complexity of needs and capacity to access health and support. Melbourne: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University.
- 14. Rodger, AJ, Cambiano, V, Bruun, T et al. Sexual activity without condoms and risk of HIV transmission in serodifferent couples when the HIV-positive partner is using suppressive antiretroviral therapy. J Am Med Assoc. 2016; 316: 171–181
- ASHM, 2018. A guide for clinicians to discuss Undetectable = Untransmittable.

- Therapeutic Goods Administration, ARTG summary: JULUCA dolutegravir (as sodium) 50 mg/ rilpivirine (as hydrochloride) 25 mg tablet bottle.
- 17. Chawla, A., Wang, C., Patton, C., Murray, M., Punekar, Y., de Ruiter, A. and Steinhart, C., 2018. A Review of Long-Term Toxicity of Antiretroviral Treatment Regimens and Implications for an Aging Population. Infectious diseases and therapy, pp.1-13.
- 18. GSK media release, 24 July 2018. ViiV Healthcare presents phase III data at AIDS 2018 from landmark GEMINI studies showing two-drug regimen of dolutegravir and lamivudine has similar efficacy to a three-drug regimen in treatment naïve HIV patients, with no emergence of resistance.
- 19. MIT News, 9 January 2018, New drug capsule may allow weekly HIV treatment.
- Spreen, W.R., Margolis, D.A. and Pottage Jr, J.C., 2013. Long-acting injectable antiretrovirals for HIV treatment and prevention. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS, 8(6), p.565.
- Bar, K.J., Sneller, M.C., Harrison, L.J., Justement, J.S., Overton, E.T., Petrone, M.E., Salantes, D.B., Seamon, C.A., Scheinfeld, B., Kwan, R.W. and Learn, G.H., 2016. Effect of HIV antibody VRC01 on viral rebound after treatment interruption. New England Journal of Medicine, 375(21), pp.2037-2050.
- 22. US National Library of Medicine. Combination Therapy With 3BNC117 and 10-1074 in HIV-Infected Individuals. [accessed 05/12/2018]
- Hütter, G., Nowak, D., Mossner, M., Ganepola, S., Müßig, A., Allers, K., Schneider, T., Hofmann, J., Kücherer, C., Blau, O. and Blau, I.W., 2009. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/ Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine, 360(7), pp.692-698.
- 24. Yukl SA, Boritz E, Busch M, et al., 2013. Challenges in detecting HIV persistence during potentially curative interventions: a study of the Berlin patient. PLoS Pathog.
- Gupta, R.K., Abdul-Jawad, S., McCoy, L.E., Mok, H.P., Peppa, D., Salgado, M., Martinez-Picado, J., Nijhuis, M., Wensing, A.M., Lee, H. and Grant, P., 2019. HIV-1 remission following CCR5Δ32/Δ32 haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Nature, p.1.
- European Aids Treatment Group, Media release, 5 March 2019, CROI 2019: London Patient In Long-Term HIV Remission After Stem Cell Transplant.
- 27. Pitman, M.C., Lau, J.S., McMahon, J.H. and Lewin, S.R., 2018. Barriers and strategies to achieve a cure for HIV. The Lancet HIV, 5(6), pp.e317-e328.

- Henrich TJ, Hanhauser E, Marty FM, et al. Antiretroviral-free HIV-1 remission and viral rebound after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: report of 2 cases. Ann Intern Med 2014; 161: 319–27.
- 29. Luzuriaga K, Gay H, Ziemniak C, et al. Viremic relapse after HIV-1 remission in a perinatally infected child. NEngl J Med 2015; 372: 786–88.
- Deeks, S.G., Lewin, S.R., Ross, A.L., Ananworanich, J., Benkirane, M., Cannon, P., Chomont, N., Douek, D., Lifson, J.D., Lo, Y.R. and Kuritzkes, D., 2016. International AIDS Society global scientific strategy: towards an HIV cure 2016. Nature medicine, 22(8), p.839.
- Pilcher, C.D., Ospina-Norvell, C., Dasgupta, A., Jones, D., Hartogensis, W., Torres, S., Calderon, F., Demicco, E., Geng, E., Gandhi, M. and Havlir, D.V., 2017. The effect of same-day observed initiation of antiretroviral therapy on HIV viral load and treatment outcomes in a US public health setting. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999), 74(1), pp.44-51.
- Ford, N., Migone, C., Calmy, A., Kerschberger, B., Kanters, S., Nsanzimana, S., Mills, E.J., Meintjes, G., Vitoria, M., Doherty, M. and Shubber, Z., 2018. Benefits and risks of rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. AIDS (London, England), 32(1), p.17.
- Burbelo, P. D., Price, R. W., Hagberg, L., Hatano, H., Spudich, S., Deeks, S. G., & Gisslén, M., 2018. Anti-Human Immunodeficiency Virus Antibodies in the Cerebrospinal Fluid: Evidence of Early Treatment Impact on Central Nervous System Reservoir? The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 217(7), 1024–1032.
- 34. Koenig, S.P., Dorvil, N., Dévieux, J.G., Hedt-Gauthier, B.L., Riviere, C., Faustin, M., Lavoile, K., Perodin, C., Apollon, A., Duverger, L. and McNairy, M.L., 2017. Same-day HIV testing with initiation of antiretroviral therapy versus standard care for persons living with HIV: A randomized unblinded trial. PLoS medicine, 14(7), p.e1002357.
- 35. WHO, 2017. Guidelines for managing advanced HIV disease and rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy.
- 36. ASHM, June 2018 update. Antiretroviral Guidelines.
- 37. Positive Life, 2017. Immediate Start to Treatment Survey Report.
- Mallitt, K.A., Wilson, D.P., McDonald, A. and Wand, H., 2012. Suppl 1: Is Back-Projection Methodology Still Relevant for Estimating HIV Incidence from National Surveillance Data?. The open AIDS journal, 6, p.108.
- Holt, M. Community-based study of undiagnosed HIV and testing (COUNT study). More information at https://csrh.arts. unsw.edu.au/research/projects/the-count-study/
- 40. Phillips AN, Neaton J, Lundgren JD. The role of HIV in serious diseases other than AIDS. Aids. 2008; 22(18):2409–18.
- 41. Guaraldi, G., Orlando, G., Zona, S., Menozzi, M., Carli, F., Garlassi, E., Berti, A., Rossi, E., Roverato, A. and Palella, F., 2011. Premature age-related comorbidities among HIV-infected persons compared with the general population. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 53(11), pp.1120-1126.
- 42. Colón-López, V., Shiels, M.S., Machin, M., Ortiz, A.P., Strickler, H., Castle, P.E., Pfeiffer, R.M. and Engels, E.A., 2018. Anal cancer risk among people with HIV infection in the United States. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 36(1), p.68.

- 43. Petoumenos, K., Huang, R., Hoy, J., Bloch, M., Templeton, D.J., Baker, D., Giles, M., Law, M.G. and Cooper, D.A., 2017. Prevalence of self-reported comorbidities in HIV positive and HIV negative men who have sex with men over 55 years— The Australian Positive & Peers Longevity Evaluation Study (APPLES). PloS one, 12(9), p.e0184583.
- 44. Nahvi, S. and Cooperman, N.A., 2009. The need for smoking cessation among HIV-positive smokers. AIDS Education and Prevention, 21(3\_supplement), pp.14-27.
- 45. Altice, F.L., Kamarulzaman, A., Soriano, V.V., Schechter, M. and Friedland, G.H., 2010. Treatment of medical, psychiatric, and substance-use comorbidities in people infected with HIV who use drugs. The Lancet, 376(9738), pp.367-387
- 46. Lundgren, J.D., Battegay, M., Behrens, G., De Wit, S., Guaraldi, G., Katlama, C., Martinez, E., Nair, D., Powderly, W.G., Reiss, P. and Sutinen, J., 2008. European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) guidelines on the prevention and management of metabolic diseases in HIV. HIV medicine, 9(2), pp.72-81.
- 47. O'Brien, K., Nixon, S., Tynan, A.M. and Glazier, R., 2010. Aerobic exercise interventions for adults living with HIV/AIDS. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (8).
- 48. Power, J, Thorpe, R, Brown, G, Lyons, A, Dowsett, GW, Lucke, J, (2016). HIV Futures 8: Health and Wellbeing of People Living with HIV. Melbourne: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University.
- 49. Kirby Institute, 2018. HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia: annual surveillance report 2018. Sydney: Kirby Institute, UNSW Sydney.
- Willig, A.L., Overton, E.T. and Saag, M.S., 2016. The Silent Epidemic-Frailty and Aging with HIV. Total patient care in HIV & HCV, 1(1), p.6.
- Sheppard, D.P., Iudicello, J.E., Bondi, M.W., Doyle, K.L., Morgan, E.E., Massman, P.J., Gilbert, P.E. and Woods, S.P., 2015. Elevated rates of mild cognitive impairment in HIV disease. Journal of neurovirology, 21(5), pp.576-584.
- Clifford, D. B., & Ances, B. M. (2013, November). HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder. HIV Medicine, 13(11), 976– 986. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099
- Cummins, D., Waters, D., Aggar, C., Crawford, D., Fethney, J. and O'Connor, C., 2018. Voices from Australia-concerns about HIV associated neurocognitive disorder. AIDS care, 30(5), pp.609-617.
- 54. McDonnell, J., Haddow, L., Daskalopoulou, M., Lampe, F., Speakman, A., Gilson, R., Phillips, A., Sherr, L., Wayal, S., Harrison, J. and Antinori, A., 2014. Minimal cognitive impairment in UK HIV-positive men who have sex with men: effect of case definitions and comparison with the general population and HIV-negative men. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999), 67(2), p.120.
- 55. ACON, 2017. Health Outcome Strategy 2017-2021 Ageing.
- Pascoe, E. A., & Richman, L. S., 2009. Perceived discrimination and health: A meta-analytic review. Psychological Bulletin, 135, 531-554.
- 57. Vanable, P.A., Carey, M.P., Blair, D.C. and Littlewood, R.A., 2006. Impact of HIV-related stigma on health behaviors and psychological adjustment among HIV-positive men and women. AIDS and Behavior, 10(5), pp.473-482.

- 58. Centre for Social Research in Health, Stigma Indicators Monitoring Project People living with HIV https://csrh.arts. unsw.edu.au/media/CSRHFile/Stigma\_Indicators\_Summary\_ HIV\_\_MSM\_FINAL.pdf
- 59. Treloar, C., Broady, T., Cama, E., Brener, L., Hopwood, M., de Wit, J. Initial findings from the Stigma Indicators Monitoring Project, Centre for Social Research in Health.
- 60. Logie, C., James, L., Tharao, W. and Loutfy, M., 2013. Associations between HIV-related stigma, racial discrimination, gender discrimination, and depression among HIV-positive African, Caribbean, and Black women in Ontario, Canada. AIDS patient care and STDs, 27(2), pp.114-122.
- 61. Stangl, A.L., Lloyd, J.K., Brady, L.M., Holland, C.E. and Baral, S., 2013. A systematic review of interventions to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination from 2002 to 2013: how far have we come?. Journal of the International AIDS Society, 16, p.18734.
- 62. Emlet, C.A., Shiu, C., Kim, H.J. and Fredriksen-Goldsen, K., 2017. Bouncing back: resilience and mastery among HIVpositive older gay and bisexual men. The Gerontologist, 57(suppl\_1), pp.S40-S49.
- 63. Greene, M., Hessol, N.A., Perissinotto, C., Zepf, R., Parrott, A.H., Foreman, C., Whirry, R., Gandhi, M. and John, M., 2018. Loneliness in older adults living with HIV. AIDS and Behavior, 22(5), pp.1475-1484.
- 64. Kall M et al., April 2018. Met and unmet health, welfare and social needs of people living with HIV. Fourth Joint Conference of the British HIV Association (BHIVA) with the British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH), Edinburgh, April 2018, abstract O23. Cited in http://www.aidsmap. com/Loneliness-and-isolation-top-list-of-unmet-social-needsamong-people-living-with-HIV-in-the-UK/page/3258732/
- 65. Valtorta, N.K., Kanaan, M., Gilbody, S., Ronzi, S. and Hanratty, B., 2016. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. Heart, 102(13), pp.1009-1016.
- 66. Lyons, A., Heywood, W. and Rozbroj, T., 2016. Psychosocial factors associated with flourishing among Australian HIVpositive gay men. BMC psychology, 4(1), p.46.
- 67. Marmot, M., 2005. Social determinants of health inequalities. The lancet, 365(9464), pp.1099-1104.
- Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, 2018. HIV Future 8 - Financial security among people living with HIV in Australia.
- 69. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2018. Australia's health 2018.
- 70. Homelessness NSW, Older people and homelessness. Available at https://www.homelessnessnesw.org.au/resources/olderpeople-and-homelessness
- 71. Ending HIV website https://endinghiv.org.au/ending-hiv/
- 72. Grulich, A.E., Guy, R., Amin, J., Jin, F., Selvey, C., Holden, J., Schmidt, H.M.A., Zablotska, I., Price, K., Whittaker, B. and Chant, K., 2018. Population-level effectiveness of rapid, targeted, high-coverage roll-out of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in men who have sex with men: the EPIC-NSW prospective cohort study. The Lancet HIV, 5(11), pp.e629-e637.

- Heard S, Iversen J, Kwon JA and Maher L. Needle Syringe Program National Minimum Data Collection: National Data Report 2018. Sydney: Kirby Institute, UNSW Sydney; 2018.
- 74. NSW DBS testing website. Available at https://www.hivtest. health.nsw.gov.au/
- 75. Jamil, M.S., Prestage, G., Fairley, C.K., Grulich, A.E., Smith, K.S., Chen, M., Holt, M., McNulty, A.M., Bavinton, B.R., Conway, D.P. and Wand, H., 2017. Effect of availability of HIV self-testing on HIV testing frequency in gay and bisexual men at high risk of infection (FORTH): a waiting-list randomised controlled trial. The lancet HIV, 4(6), pp.e241-e250.
- 76. Collaboration for Evidence, Research and Impact in Public Health, 2018. "I want to test but I'm afraid": Barriers to HIV testing among people born in South East Asia and sub-Saharan Africa: Final report. Perth, WA: Curtin University.
- Australian Government, 2015. Responding to the threat of antimicrobial resistance – Australia's first national antimicrobial resistance strategy 2015-2019.
- 78. WHO website, The Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme (GASP). Available at https://www.who.int/ reproductivehealth/topics/rtis/gonococcal\_resistance/en/
- 79. AFAO, 2018. Brief Gonorrhoea: Drug Resistance in Australia.
- NSW Government, 2018. Sexually Transmissible Infections Strategy 2016 – 2020 January to December 2017 Data Report.
- Australasian Society for HIV, 2018. Viral Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis: clinical guidelines. Update April 2018.
- 82. Vaccher, S.J., Gianacas, C., Templeton, D.J., Poynten, I.M., Haire, B.G., Ooi, C., Foster, R., McNulty, A., Grulich, A.E., Zablotska, I.B. and Carr, A., 2017. Baseline Preferences for Daily, Event-Driven, or Periodic HIV Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis among Gay and Bisexual Men in the PRELUDE Demonstration Project. Frontiers in public health, 5, p.341.
- Molina, J.M., Capitant, C., Spire, B., Pialoux, G., Cotte, L., Charreau, I., Tremblay, C., Le Gall, J.M., Cua, E., Pasquet, A. and Raffi, F., 2015. On-demand preexposure prophylaxis in men at high risk for HIV-1 infection. New England Journal of Medicine, 373(23), pp.2237-2246.
- 84. Molina, J.M., Charreau, I., Spire, B., Cotte, L., Chas, J., Capitant, C., Tremblay, C., Rojas-Castro, D., Cua, E., Pasquet, A. and Bernaud, C., 2016, July. Efficacy of on-demand PrEP with TDF-FTC in the ANRS IPERGAY open-label extension study. In Journal of the International AIDS Society (vol. 19).
- Aids Info website, Cabotegravir. Available at https://aidsinfo. nih.gov/drugs/513/cabotegravir/0/patient
- 86. AMP study website. Available at https://ampstudy.org/about
- 87. U.S. National Library of Medicine. Evaluating the Safety and Efficacy of the VRC01 Antibody in Reducing Acquisition of HIV-1 Infection Among Men and Transgender Persons Who Have Sex With Men.
- 88. U.S. National Library of Medicine, Evaluating the Safety and Efficacy of the VRC01 Antibody in Reducing Acquisition of HIV-1 Infection in Women.
- Cohen SE, Sachdev D, Lee SA et al., Acquisition of tenofovirsusceptible, emtricitabine-resistant HIV despite high adherence to daily pre-exposure prophylaxis: a case report. Lancet HIV. 2018.

- 90. Fauci, A.S., 2016. An HIV vaccine: Mapping uncharted territory. Jama, 316(2), pp.143-144.
- 91. Rerks-Ngarm, S., Pitisuttithum, P., Nitayaphan, S., Kaewkungwal, J., Chiu, J., Paris, R., Premsri, N., Namwat, C., de Souza, M., Adams, E. and Benenson, M., 2009. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. New England Journal of Medicine, 361(23), pp.2209-2220.
- 92. Barouch, D.H., Tomaka, F.L., Wegmann, F., Stieh, D.J., Alter, G., Robb, M.L., Michael, N.L., Peter, L., Nkolola, J.P., Borducchi, E.N. and Chandrashekar, A., 2018. Evaluation of a mosaic HIV-1 vaccine in a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 1/2a clinical trial (APPROACH) and in rhesus monkeys (NHP 13-19). The Lancet.
- 93. U.S. National Library of Medicine. A Study to Assess the Efficacy of a Heterologous Prime/Boost Vaccine Regimen of Ad26.Mos4.HIV and Aluminum Phosphate-Adjuvanted Clade C gp140 in Preventing Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) -1 Infection in Women in Sub-Saharan Africa.
- 94. HIV Prevention Trials Network website, HPTN 052 Study Summary. Available at https://www.hptn.org/research/ studies/hptn052#block-views-block-study-relatedpublications-block-1
- 95. Rodger, A.J., Cambiano, V., Bruun, T., Vernazza, P., Collins, S., Van Lunzen, J., Corbelli, G.M., Estrada, V., Geretti, A.M., Beloukas, A. and Asboe, D., 2016. Sexual activity without condoms and risk of HIV transmission in serodifferent couples when the HIV-positive partner is using suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Jama, 316(2), pp.171-181.
- 96. Bavinton, B.R., Pinto, A.N., Phanuphak, N., Grinsztejn, B., Prestage, G.P., Zablotska-Manos, I.B., Jin, F., Fairley, C.K., Moore, R., Roth, N. and Bloch, M., 2018. Viral suppression and HIV transmission in serodiscordant male couples: an international, prospective, observational, cohort study. The lancet HIV, 5(8), pp.e438-e447.
- 97. ABS, 2016 Census.
- 98. NSW Ministry of Health, ACON data request, November 2018, unpublished.
- 99. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2018. Deaths in Australia.

